STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 14 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAPPIA DANGELO GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000313

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's mistrial motion, where it held that a testifying defendant had the burden to prove he received *Miranda*³ warnings to establish a *Doyle*⁴ violation rather than concluding the prosecution, as the proponent of the evidence, had the burden to show a testifying defendant did not receive *Miranda* warnings before it could permissibly use his post-arrest silence for impeachment, particularly given evidence Petitioner received the warnings?

³ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

⁴ *Doyle v. Ohio*, 476 U.S. 610 (1976).

STATEMENT

On November 3, 2015, Petitioner was indicted by a Charleston County Grand Jury for the offenses of armed robbery, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 739 – 744. His case was called to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury, May 22 – May 25, 2017. R. 1. Daniel Cooper and Burns Wetmore represented the State; Mark Archer represented Petitioner. R. 1. The jury returned verdicts of guilty, and Judge Couch sentenced Petitioner to incarceration for terms of fifteen years for armed robbery, fifteen years for kidnapping, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, with sentences to run concurrently. R. 745 – 747.

On May 27, 2017, Petitioner served his notice of intent to appeal. On February 3, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in a published opinion. *State v. Green*, 432 S.C. 572, 854 S.E.2d 626 (Ct. App. 2021). A petition for rehearing was filed on February 18, 2021, and then denied on March 12, 2021. The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on March 25, 2021. The State made its return on April 26, 2021. On March 15, 2022, this court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). "Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge." *Id.* at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *State v. Wiley*, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's mistrial motion, where it held that a testifying defendant had the burden to prove he received *Miranda*⁵ warnings to establish a *Doyle*⁶ violation rather than concluding the prosecution, as the proponent of the evidence, had the burden to show a testifying defendant did not receive *Miranda* warnings before it could permissibly use his post-arrest silence for impeachment, particularly given evidence Petitioner received the warnings.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that when the prosecution impeaches an accused with his post-arrest silence, the burden is on a defendant to show the questioning violated *Doyle v. Ohio* instead of the burden being on the prosecution, as proponent of the evidence, to show his silence was relevant such that impeachment was proper. The State did not meet its burden here, given evidence that Petitioner did receive *Miranda* warnings, and a mistrial should have been granted.

Relevant facts

The State alleged that on April 14, 2015, Keith Lee was kidnapped and robbed by three men: Jonathan Johnson, Petitioner, and an unidentified third man. R. 105, l. 13 – 107, l. 6. The defense advanced the theory that Lee owed Johnson money for drugs and Lee gave Johnson the money voluntarily while Petitioner was present. R. 113, l. 12 – 114, l. 13. The defense posited Lee lied about being robbed to avoid his girlfriend's anger that his paycheck was used to pay for drugs. R. 656, ll. 14-25.

⁵ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

⁶ *Doyle v. Ohio*, 476 U.S. 610 (1976).

Lee claimed he was in the parking lot at Wells Fargo in North Charleston waiting for his girlfriend when a stranger in a gold PT Cruiser asked for a battery jump. R. 121, l. 7 – 122, l. 24. Lee helped jump the battery, but he alleged the stranger forced him in the backseat of the PT Cruiser at gunpoint. R. 124, ll. 6-9. Lee said there were two other men in the car and he later learned that the man who approached him (the driver) was Johnathan Johnson, and that Petitioner was the front passenger.⁷ R. 127, ll. 1-6.

Lee claimed the men demanded money and jewelry from him at gunpoint. R. 128, ll. 19-21; R. 128, ll. 23-24. Lee alleged that Johnson forced him to go pick up his paycheck from Hardee's; Lee claimed the men tied him up and drove to the Hardee's in Mount Pleasant. R. 129, l. 25 - 131, l. 12. Lee alleged Petitioner threatened to kill him and everyone in Hardee's if he tried to signal for help. R. 134, ll. 2-6. Lee claimed Johnson took him into Hardee's while Johnson was armed with a pistol. Lee picked up and signed for his paycheck. R. 134, ll. 2-3; R. 136, ll. 2-3. Lee alleged that on the way in, Johnson promised to protect him because Johnson's mother worked there. R. 135, ll. 2-10. The restaurant manager who gave Lee his check said Lee did not act in an unusual manner or ask her to push a panic button that he knew existed. R. 584, l. 14 – 586, l. 22.

Lee alleged the men tied him up again as they left Hardee's, and drove back across the Mount Pleasant Bridge to Ace Check Cashing in North Charleston, where Lee cashed his check. R. 139, ll. 14-17; R. 140, ll. 2-7. Lee said that after cashing the check, he returned to the car and gave the envelope to the unidentified third man in the back seat, who passed it to Petitioner. R.

⁷ Law enforcement showed Lee lineups that contained photographs of Petitioner and of Johnson. R. 283, l. 13 – 286, l. 23. Despite allegedly having more interaction with Johnson, Lee did not pick Johnson out of a lineup, although he picked out Petitioner. R. 326, ll. 18-19; R. 284, l. 24 – 285, l. 10.

141, ll. 14-15. Lee claimed when they stopped the car by a gas station he happened to see his girlfriend in the drive-through lane of a nearby fried chicken restaurant. R. 142, ll. 22-25. Lee alleged the men then released him and he got in his girlfriend's car. R. 144, ll. 5-7. Notably, he did not call 911.⁸

Police searched the gold PT Cruiser belonging to Johnson's girlfriend. R. 205, ll. 13-22. Inside, officers found an envelope and paystub belonging to Lee, and identified the fingerprints of Johnson and Petitioner on the stub. R. 216, 25 – 216, l. 12; R. 250, ll. 8-12. The State introduced phone records and security footage from the Hardee's parking lot that showed Petitioner outside the PT Cruiser telephoning Johnson while Johnson and Lee were inside the restaurant. R. 306, ll. 5-18; R. 339, l. 24 – 341, l. 15.

Although Johnson had pleaded guilty for his role in the case, he was called as a defense witness and said Lee was not kidnapped or robbed. R. 369, ll. 23; R. 380, ll. 9-11. Johnson said that he previously sold Lee drugs, Lee owed him money, and when Johnson saw Lee at Wells Fargo he asked Lee for the money. R. 369, ll. 10-13; R. 369, ll. 14-15. Lee told him he needed to get his paycheck, so Johnson took him to pick up and cash his check, and Lee gave him the money. R. 369, ll. 16-19.

Petitioner testified and confirmed Johnson's testimony that Lee got in the car at Wells Fargo because Lee owed Johnson money. R. 489, ll. 4-14; R. 490, ll. 1-3. Petitioner said Lee rode with them voluntarily, and explained that he touched the check stub when Lee handed it to

⁸ Lee's girlfriend did not believe that he had been robbed until they got home and Lee got out a gun, saying he was going to look for the men. R. 144, ll. 12-25. At that point, Lee's girlfriend called the police and said Lee was walking down the highway with a firearm. R. 145, ll. 2-5. Lee was quickly surrounded by a large number of police officers with guns drawn telling him to drop his weapon. R. 146, ll. 7-13. When police officers retrieved his gun, Lee claimed that he had been robbed. R. 146, ll. 13-19.

him to give to Johnson. R. 490, ll. 5-21; R. 491, ll. 13-15; R. 495, l. 23 – 496, l. 9. Petitioner said he phoned Johnson while Johnson was in Hardee’s because it was hot and he wondered what was taking so long. R. 500, l. 13 – 501, l. 1. He explained that he got out of the car at Hardee’s to see what was going on because it appeared a car accident had occurred. R. 493, ll. 16-21. Petitioner also denied having a weapon or threatening to kill anyone, and said no one in the car pointed a gun at Lee. R. 497, ll. 1-22; R. 497, ll. 21-25. He noted Lee did seem upset at some point during the drive, expressing that his girlfriend was going to be angry with him. R. 498, ll. 1-12.

On cross-examination, the solicitor challenged Petitioner: “So this story you have about having a little bit to drink, riding around in the car, why not tell the police back in 2015?” R. 502, l. 24 – 503, l. 1. “Why not speak to law enforcement when you got arrested?” R. 504, ll. 10-11. The solicitor remarked: “now we’re having this brand new story that you’ve had two years to come up with.” R. 504, l. 22 – 505, l. 1. He asked: “instead of trying to get a hold of somebody while you were sitting in jail two years and say, hey, that’s not what happened, you wanted to sit in jail for two years to come to trial?” R. 503, ll. 22-25. Petitioner replied that he had “talked to [his] lawyer about this several times.” R. 504, ll. 2-3.

Defense counsel objected to this line of questioning, protesting that the State was improperly commenting on Petitioner’s Fifth Amendment rights. R. 505, l. 6-24. Defense counsel argued: “[I]t’s his absolute constitutional right not to talk to the police, and it’s an improper comment on his Fifth Amendment right,” and the court sustained the objection. R. 506, ll. 1-9. The court had a conference with the attorneys in chambers to discuss whether the State’s questioning of Petitioner on his failure to offer an exculpatory statement prior to trial violated

Doyle v. Ohio.⁹ R. 540, ll. 8-19. The State argued that because nothing indicated Petitioner had been given his *Miranda* rights,¹⁰ *Doyle* was inapplicable. R. 540, l. 19 – 23.

Petitioner was not arrested the day of the alleged robbery. Instead, Petitioner was served warrants for this case when he was arrested on August 19, 2015, for failure to stop for a blue light. R. 541, ll. 4-9. The solicitor said he had spoken with Danielle Smoak, who he believed to be the arresting officer, and Smoak told him she did not read Petitioner *Miranda* warnings. R. 540, l. 23 – 541, l. 19. Defense counsel argued: “I don’t think we know that he was not *Mirandized* at that time,” and noted the court had not heard from “the officer who stopped him for the blue light.” R. 541, ll. 21-22; R. 542, ll. 3-4. Defense counsel argued Petitioner said he was read his *Miranda* rights. R. 543, ll. 6-8.

The court determined it would hold a hearing *in camera* on whether Petitioner was given *Miranda* warnings, and defense counsel said: “[I]f that’s critical to whether or not he’s entitled to a mistrial, I think we need to put evidence up on it.” R. 545, ll. 3-19.

Petitioner was sworn and testified *in camera* that when he was arrested for failure to stop for a blue light, he was told of the outstanding warrants for this case. R. 545, l. 21 – 546, l. 18. There were multiple officers at the scene. R. 556, ll. 16-17; R. 547, ll. 15-16. Petitioner testified that an officer, a “guy I don’t know his name he ask me – he read me my rights.” R. 546, ll. 17-18. “He told me I got warrants for arm robbery from North Charleston Police Department, some bad checks and failure to stop for a blue light.” R. 546, ll. 18-21. Petitioner said: “He read me my *Miranda* rights and he put me in the car with this female officer who transported me to the

⁹ *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610 (1976).

¹⁰ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

North Charleston county jail.” R. 546, ll. 21-23. “I definitely was read my *Miranda* rights and he ask me did I want to come down to City Hall.” R. 547, ll. 10-13.

The solicitor questioned Petitioner about the officer’s appearance; Petitioner described the man as bald with a stocky build and green uniform, and he suggested the court check the officer’s body camera.¹¹ R. 551, ll. 12-16. Petitioner testified that the bald officer said: “[H]ey that’s Tappia Green. You got several warrants from our department,” read him *Miranda*, and asked him to “come down to City Hall and talk about it.” R. 552, ll. 9-22. Petitioner said the officer told him, “You have the right to remain silent . . . anything you say can and will be hold against you in a court of law.” R. 555, ll. 5-8.

The court heard testimony from two police officers at the hearing. Officer Danielle Smoak said two of her coworkers were pursuing Petitioner when he got out of the vehicle and ran into a building. R. 598, ll. 21-23. Smoak was one of a team assisting the officers, and handcuffed Petitioner, putting him in a police car when he came out of the building. R. 598, ll. 23-25; R. 599, ll. 6-8. Officer Smoak said she did not read Petitioner *Miranda* warnings, but called a transport unit to take him to jail. R. 599, ll. 21-25; R. 600, ll. 19-21. When the female transport officer arrived, Smoak unlocked her patrol car door so that Petitioner could be moved to the transport unit car. R. 606, ll. 6-12.

¹¹ Officers Riley and Norwood wrote reports that stated Petitioner was served with outstanding warrants from the North Charleston Police Department for kidnapping, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and forgery, and was taken to the detention center. R. 729 – 734. The reports stated that “the entire incident was captured on the Body Camera of Pfc. Norwood,” and: “This incident was recorded with the department issued body worn camera” of MPO Cummins. R. 733 – 734. Neither of these officers testified, nor were the recordings reviewed by the court. The court stated it would watch the body camera footage if it was immediately available, but no footage was produced for the court to review. R. 620, ll. 18-21.

Smoak testified Officers Riley and Norwood chased Petitioner for failure to stop for a blue light, and she was not certain whether they talked to Petitioner. R. 602, ll. 7-14; R. 602, l. 23 – 603, l. 5. Smoak said,

A. Usually whenever I detain someone and put them in the car, nobody really talks to them after that.

Q. Usually. Can you say for certain they didn't talk to [Petitioner]?

A. No absolutely not.

R. 602, ll. 21-25. Officer Smoak said she could not be sure that no other officers talked to Petitioner, explaining that a couple of years had passed and she had been involved “in multiple pursuits and incidents since then.” R. 608, ll. 1-6. When asked if she could recall an officer who was bald and wearing green present, Smoak offered that Brandon VanAusdal fit the description. R. 601, ll. 4-16.

Officer VanAusdal testified at the hearing that he was a K-9 officer called in to assist, and that he did not give Petitioner *Miranda* warnings. R. 611, l. 19 – 612, l. 3. VanAusdal did not remember “who's bald and who's not” among the officers that responded, and did not see who served warrants on Petitioner for this case. R. 614, ll. 17-23; R. 613, ll. 20-24.

The State argued that if no *Miranda* warning is given, then *Doyle* and its progeny do not apply, and its line of cross-examination of Petitioner did not violate Petitioner's Fifth Amendment rights. R. 620, ll. 5-11. Defense counsel argued that the burden was on the State to prove Petitioner had not been given *Miranda* warnings before it could question him on his post-arrest silence without running afoul of *Doyle*. R. 620, ll. 22-23; R. 618, ll. 6-7. Although the trial court did not explicitly announce which party had the burden of proof, the judge had earlier stated, “[H]e's [Petitioner] getting ready to testify that he got his *Miranda* rights, that's what I've been told. If you want to counter that testimony, that's up to you [solicitor].” R. 545, ll. 16-19.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court found “sufficient evidence to indicate that [Petitioner] was not *Mirandized* at that time.” R. 621, ll. 6-8. The judge stated the police reports did not say that Petitioner was read *Miranda*, and that two officers present at his arrest (Smoak and VanAusdal) testified they did not read him *Miranda*. R. 621, ll. 12-19. The court found the State’s line of questioning did not violate *Doyle* and it denied the defense’s mistrial motion. R. 621, ll. 21-23.

In closing argument, the solicitor said: “what this case is going to come down to is who you believe. Not whether you believe me or Mr. Archer, whether you believe Keith Lee, Johnathan Johnson or [Petitioner].” R. 624, ll. 7-10. “[I]t’s going to come down to who you believe was telling the truth and who you believe wasn’t.” R. 625, ll. 4-5. The solicitor also told the jury Lee had credibility because “he’s told the same story to you. He’s told the same story to the North Charleston Police Department;” implying Petitioner lacked credibility because he did not talk to the police. R. 625, l. 24 – 626, l. 2.

The Court of Appeals found “contrary evidence was submitted by [Petitioner] and the State” as to whether Petitioner was read his *Miranda* rights, and therefore concluded there was evidence to support the trial court’s decision. *State v. Green*, 432 S.C. at 592, 854 S.E.2d at 637. The Court of Appeals wrote,

Thus, the proffered testimony reflects, while Green claimed he was given *Miranda* warnings at the scene of his arrest by a male officer who then placed him into the car of a female transport officer, the only person known to have contact with Green at the scene of his arrest other than Officer Smoak was Officer VanAusdal; Officer VanAusdal fit the description of the individual Green claimed read him his rights; Officer Smoak did not give Green his *Miranda* rights and did not hear anyone else read him his rights; being in the first position, Officer Smoak placed Green in handcuffs and secured him in her locked car, which meant no one else had access to Green until the transport officer arrived; Officer Smoak unlocked her door for the female transport officer, who then took

Green to jail; and Officer VanAusdal denied reading Green his *Miranda* rights.

State v. Green, 432 S.C. at 592, 854 S.E.2d at 636-37.

The Court of Appeals determined that as to prior South Carolina cases holding there was no *Doyle* violation only where no evidence appeared in the record that the accused had been provided *Miranda* warnings, “it does not necessarily follow that when the question of whether a defendant has been given *Miranda* warnings is in contention, *Doyle* automatically applies.” *State v. Green*, 432 S.C. at 593, 854 S.E.2d at 637.

We believe the question is not whether any evidence has been presented that a defendant received *Miranda* warnings when determining whether a *Doyle* violation has occurred. Rather the question is whether the trial judge, who saw and heard testimony on the matter and is in a better position to judge credibility, has the authority to make a factual determination on whether *Miranda* warnings have been given for purposes of determining a *Doyle* violation issue when contrary evidence is presented, and the standard of review to be applied to the trial court’s determination in such a matter.

State v. Green, 432 S.C. at 593, 854 S.E.2d at 637 (footnote omitted).

The Court of Appeals cited *Mattox v. State*, 395 S.E.2d 288 (Ga. Ct. App. 1990), noting that Georgia “has held the burden rests on the defendant to show a *Doyle* violation has occurred.” *Id.* In particular, the Court of Appeals quoted the *Mattox* court’s statement that, “the determination of whether the defendant has the burden of showing a *Doyle v. Ohio* violation or the State has the burden of showing the applicability of *Fletcher v. Weir* is one of first impression in this State.” *State v. Green*, 432 S.C. at 594, 854 S.E.2d at 637-38 (quoting *Mattox*, 395 S.E.2d at 290). The Court of Appeals concluded,

As observed by the *Mattox* court, the USSC in *Fletcher* reversed the lower court’s grant of habeas corpus, noting the record there failed to indicate the defendant received any *Miranda* warnings during the period in which he remained silent immediately after his

arrest. Had the burden been upon the State to affirmatively demonstrate *Doyle* was not applicable, the failure of the record to indicate whether or not the defendant received any *Miranda* warnings during the period of silence after his arrest would have presumably been fatal to the State meeting its burden of proof and would have resulted in affirmance of the grant of habeas corpus. Accordingly, we believe the burden is upon the defendant to show a *Doyle* violation has occurred.

Id., 432 S.C. at 594, 854 S.E.2d at 638.

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