RECEIVED

Jun 13 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000313

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TAPPIA DEANGELO GREEN,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling denying Green's mistrial motion because: (1) Green—as the movant seeking the grant of a mistrial—bore the burden of establishing a Doyle violation actually occurred before he could be entitled to the relief he was requesting; and (2) the trial judge's factual finding Green had not been informed of his constitutional rights was supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial, which meant no Doyle violation occurred in Green's case since it was constitutionally permissible for the solicitor to impeach Green's trial testimony with Green's post-arrest but pre-Miranda silence.

Green contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge's denial of his motion for a mistrial. In support of that contention, Green maintains the Court of Appeals committed reversible error by concluding a defendant should bear the burden of establishing a Doyle violation has occurred. Green further maintains the State failed to meet its burden of demonstrating a Doyle violation had *not* occurred in his case because he personally testified during trial he had been informed of his rights and no evidence was purportedly presented to refute that particular claim. As a result, Green asserts a mistrial should have been granted in his case based on the Doyle violation that supposedly had been committed and, thus, the trial judge erred by declining to grant one. To the contrary, Green bore the burden of establishing a Doyle violation occurred in his case since he was the one seeking the grant of a mistrial based on such a violation. Furthermore, even if the burden of establishing a Doyle violation was somehow not Green's under the circumstances involved, no Doyle violation occurred in Green's case because there was evidence presented to support the trial judge's finding Green had not been informed of his constitutional rights, which made it constitutionally permissible for the solicitor to impeach Green's trial testimony with his post-arrest, pre-Miranda silence. Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by denying Green's mistrial motion based on a Doyle violation that did not actually occur, and, regardless of who had the burden of establishing

such a violation, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s factually-supported ruling on appeal. Green’s convictions should be affirmed.

Ordinarily, when circumstances exist that would naturally lead an individual to reveal a pertinent fact but the individual fails to avail himself or herself of an opportunity to do so, it is proper to question the individual about his or her failure to reveal the pertinent fact when the opportunity existed to do otherwise because such a failure can be probative towards issues such as fabrication and credibility. See Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 628 (1993) (recognizing silence can be probative while noting “if the shooting was an accident, petitioner had every reason—including to clear his name and preserve evidence supporting his version of the events—to offer his account immediately following the shooting”); Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 239 (1980) (“Common law traditionally has allowed witnesses to be impeached by their previous failure to state a fact in circumstances in which that fact naturally would have been asserted.”); see also Raffel v. United States, 271 U.S. 494, 497 (1926) (“[A criminal defendant’s] failure to deny or explain evidence of incriminating circumstances of which he may have knowledge may be the basis of adverse inference [regarding credibility.]”); cf. State v. Nathari, 303 S.C. 188, 195, 399 S.E.2d 597, 602 (Ct. App. 1990) (explaining a witness’s failure to come forward earlier with exculpatory information was a proper subject of cross-examination because that fact bore on the witness’s credibility). In fact, calling a jury’s attention to *any* delay in a disclosure of sexual abuse is an exceedingly-common and routinely-employed tactic used by the defense in a sexual abuse case based on a belief such a delay raises doubt as to the credibility of the victim’s testimony.¹² See, e.g., State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 341, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct.

¹² Notably, due to the *perceived* significance of a victim’s failure to stop sexual abuse by immediately disclosing towards the victim’s credibility, impeachment of victims based on delays in disclosure consistently occurs in criminal sexual conduct trials in South Carolina and

App. 2015) (“At trial, [Brown] cross-examined the minor victims extensively regarding their delays in disclosure as well as the varying accounts of the abuse they gave authorities. . . . Such behavior undoubtedly became a fact at issue in this case, raising questions of credibility or accuracy that might not be explained by experiences common to jurors.”), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018).

However, when the silence involved is the silence of a criminal defendant and it follows the giving of Miranda warnings, such silence *loses* its probative force due to the fact “[s]ilence in the wake of [those] warnings may be nothing more than the [defendant]’s exercise of” the rights articulated through those warnings. Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 617 (1976); see Wainwright v. Greenfield, 474 U.S. 284, 291 n. 6 (1986) (explaining the rule from Doyle “derives from the implicit assurances of the Miranda warnings”). Accordingly, the use of a defendant’s post-Miranda silence for impeachment purposes is improper and constitutes a violation of the defendant’s due process rights. Doyle, 426 U.S. at 619; see State v. Simmons, 360 S.C. 33, 39, 599 S.E.2d 448, 450 (2004) (“Doyle holds that the Due Process Clause prohibits the government from commenting on an accused’s post-Miranda silence. Doyle rests on the fundamental unfairness of implicitly assuring a suspect that his silence will not be used against him and then using his silence to impeach an explanation subsequently offered at trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)). “The obvious purpose [of that prohibition] is to try to prevent jurors from

elsewhere despite the fact such delays are generally recognized by experts in the field as not being unusual, unexpected, or concerning. See John E. B. Meyers, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation: Consensus and Confusion, 14 U.C. Davis J. Juv. L. & Pol’y 1, 45-46 (2010) (“Psychological research demonstrates that delayed reporting is common among sexually abused children. Frequently when children finally disclose, they give slightly different versions of the abuse to different interviewers. Finally, although there is debate about how many sexually abused children recant, it is undisputed that some children recant and some recant their recantation. Thus, from a psychological point of view, expert testimony about delay, inconsistency, and recantation is not controversial. From the legal perspective, such testimony is not worrisome.” (footnotes omitted)).

improperly inferring the accused is guilty simply because he exercised rights guaranteed him by the state and federal constitutions.” Edmond v. State, 341 S.C. 340, 346, 534 S.E.2d 682, 685 (2000); see Greenfield, 474 U.S. at 292 (“The point of the Doyle holding is that it is fundamentally unfair to promise an arrested person that his silence will not be used against him and thereafter to breach that promise by using the silence to impeach his trial testimony.”).

Importantly though, when an arrested defendant has *not* been given Miranda warnings, the probative force of any post-arrest silence remains unaffected or undiminished as the rationale for its loss is inapplicable. Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603, 605-606 (1982); see Brown v. State, 375 S.C. 464, 472, 652 S.E.2d 765, 769 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Doyle and its progeny have thus made clear that it is the breach of the implied assurance contained in the Miranda warnings that violates the fundamental fairness required by the Due Process Clause.”). Thus, “[i]n the absence of the sort of affirmative assurances embodied in the Miranda warnings,” a defendant who chooses to testify during trial can be impeached with his or her post-arrest silence without such impeachment violating the defendant’s due process rights. Weir, 455 U.S. at 607; see United States v. Wilchcombe, 838 F.3d 1179, 1190 (11th Cir. 2016) (“[I]t is constitutionally permissible to use a defendant’s post-arrest, pre-Miranda silence to impeach a defendant.”); State v. McIntosh, 358 S.C. 432, 443, 595 S.E.2d 484, 490 (2004) (instructing the State can permissibly impeach a defendant’s trial testimony with the defendant’s “silence after arrest but prior to the giving of the Miranda warnings”); Brown, 375 S.C. at 747, 652 S.E.2d at 770 (“The United States Supreme Court has held the use of post-arrest silence for impeachment purposes is allowed when no Miranda warnings are given.”); see also United States v. Quinn, 359 F.3d 666, 678 (4th Cir. 2004) (explaining the “central premise of Doyle” was “due process is denied *only*

when the government induces a defendant's post-arrest silence with the assurance that such silence will not be used against the defendant" (emphasis added)).

In the case sub judice, Green was arrested for committing a kidnapping and armed robbery of Victim. At the time of the incident that led to Green's arrest, Green was accompanied by two—and perhaps three—other confederates, and, at trial, he claimed he and those confederates did not commit *any* crimes against Victim, who instead allegedly voluntarily accompanied them and freely handed over his money to pay off a debt.¹³ As a result, Green's version of events at trial was totally inconsistent with him having *any* criminal liability whatsoever, and it could purportedly be supported by multiple individuals others than himself. Thus, Green had a logical, natural, and compelling reason to reveal his corroborable account of innocence at the time of his arrest for the exceedingly-serious crimes with which he had been accused. See Brecht, 507 U.S. at 628 (“[Pre-Miranda] silence *is probative* and does not rest on any implied assurance by law enforcement officers that it will carry penalty.” (emphasis added)); Jenkins, 447 U.S. at 239 (recognizing witnesses have traditionally been permitted to be impeached with “their previous failure to state a fact in circumstances in which that fact naturally would have been asserted”); cf. State v. McGinnis, 320 S.E.2d 297, 300 (N.C. Ct. App. 1984) (“The test is whether, under the circumstances at the time of arrest, it would have been natural for defendant to have asserted the same defense at trial. . . . [I]t would clearly have been natural for defendant to have told the arresting police officer that the shooting with which defendant was accused was accidental, if defendant believed that to be the case.”). However, instead of doing

¹³ During his testimony, Johnson seemed at one point to imply there was a fifth individual in the PT Cruiser along with him, Green, their other associate, and Victim. (R. p. 405). However, Johnson further stated he was not willing to say who that particular individual was, and, like many other aspects of his testimony, Johnson did not testify clearly and consistently regarding the number of individuals present in the vehicle on the date of the incident. (R. p. 401; p. 405).

so, Green remained entirely silent both at the time of his arrest and for a substantial period of time following that before revealing during trial for the first time publicly his exculpatory account of the incident.

Critically, under such circumstances, Green's post-arrest silence was a key fact bearing on the credibility of his exculpatory story *unless* that silence followed an implicit assurance from the authorities suggesting to Green it would carry no penalty. See McIntosh, 358 S.C. at 595 S.E.2d at 490 ("The State may point out a defendant's silence prior to arrest, or his silence after arrest but prior to the giving of the Miranda warnings, in order to impeach the defendant's testimony at trial. Due process is not violated because such silence is probative and *does not rest on any implied assurance by law enforcement authorities that it will carry no penalty.*" (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)). Importantly though, at the time the solicitor sought to impeach Green's trial testimony with his earlier silence, *no* evidence had been presented to suggest Green had ever been informed of his rights, and, as the trial judge later noted, nothing in Green's case file supported a conclusion to the contrary. Cf. State v. Bell, 347 S.C. 267, 271, 554 S.E.2d 435, 437 (Ct. App. 2001) ("In the present case, *there was no evidence* in the record that Bell ever received Miranda warnings, and we will not presume the warnings were given at the time of arrest. . . . [H]er arrest alone is insufficient to implicitly induce Bell to remain silent. Therefore, we find no due process violation occurred as a result of the State's cross-examination of Bell." (emphasis added and citations omitted)). Therefore, in the absence of anything suggesting Green's silence followed or was the product of any implicit assurances from the authorities that it would not be used against him, that silence had probative value towards Green's credibility, and the solicitor could constitutionally use it to impeach Green's trial testimony without running afoul of the rule articulated in Doyle. See Brecht, 507 U.S. at

628 (instructing pre-Miranda silence “is probative” due to the fact it does not rest on any assurances from law enforcement it will not be used against the defendant); see also Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 69 (2000) (“The prosecutor’s comments in this case . . . concerned respondent’s *credibility as a witness*, and were therefore in accord with our longstanding rule that when a defendant takes the stand, his credibility may be impeached and his testimony assailed like that of any other witness. When a defendant assumes the role of a witness, the rules that generally apply to other witnesses—rules that serve the truth-seeking function of the trial—are generally applicable to him as well.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)); United States v. Robinson, 485 U.S. 25, 33 (1988) (“The central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant’s guilt or innocence. To this end it is important that both the defendant and the prosecutor have the opportunity to meet fairly the evidence and arguments of one another.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)). And, prior to denying Green’s Doyle-based mistrial motion that was raised in response to the solicitor’s questioning, the trial judge considered evidence and testimony on the matter before finding a sufficient basis had been established to demonstrate Green had *not* been informed of his rights, and the trial judge’s factual finding in that regard was supported by the evidence and testimony presented to him. See State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006) (explaining an appellate court “is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous”); cf. United States v. Cumiskey, 745 F.2d 278, 278-279 (3d Cir. 1984) (affirming Cumiskey’s convictions following a remand that led to the district court judge making a factual determination Cumiskey had not been informed of his rights). Accordingly, no Doyle violation occurred in Green’s case, and Green was not—and could not have been—entitled to the extreme remedy of a mistrial based on a trial error that did not actually occur. See State v.

Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure which should be taken only where an incident is so grievous that prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.”).

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